FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/14/2018
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

95831-9

No. 75828-4

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

EARL R. ROGERS, JR.,

Appellant.

APPELLANT DAVID A. TRIEWELER'S
PETITION FOR REVIEW

Lori Worthington Hurl, WSBA #40647
BETTS PATTERSON & MINES
One Convention Place, Suite 1400
701 Pike Street
Seattle WA 98101-3927
Telephone: (206) 292-9988
Facsimile: (206) 343-7053
Attorneys for Appellant David A.
Trieweler

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS DIV I
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2018 MAY -2 PM 4:30

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant David A. Trieweiler (“Trieweiler”) asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals’ decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Trieweiler requests review of the Court of Appeals’ consolidated decision in *State v. Rogers*, No. 75722-9-I and 75828-4-I, filed on February 20, 2018, in which the Court affirmed the trial court’s order finding Trieweiler in contempt for failing to produce a letter allegedly provided to him by his former client, Earl Rogers (“Rogers”) (No. 75828-4-I). *See* Appx. at A-1 through A-9. In the same opinion, the Court of Appeals ruled on Rogers’s appeal of the trial court’s denial of his motion to quash the State’s subpoena ordering Trieweiler to produce the letter (No. 75722-9-I). The Court of Appeals held that the letter at issue was not protected by the attorney-client privilege, a decision that conflicts with the Supreme Court’s decision in *State ex rel. Sowers v. Olwell*, 64 Wn.2d 828, 833, 394 P.2d 681 (1964), the leading Washington decision governing the scope of the attorney-client privilege as applied to physical evidence provided to an attorney by a client.

On March 12, 2018, Rogers filed a motion for reconsideration, in which Trieweiler joined, and Trieweiler filed a motion to publish. On

March 19, 2018, the Court denied the motion for reconsideration. *See* Appx. at A-10 through A-11. On April 2, the Court of Appeals granted Trieweiler's motion to publish. *See* Appx. at A-12 through A-13.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW IF REVIEW IS GRANTED

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in ordering compliance with the State's subpoena, where the subpoena was defective because it required Trieweiler to disclose evidence he may have obtained as the result of a confidential attorney-client communication and Rogers's interest in maintaining his privilege outweighs the public's interest in obtaining the letter?

2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in ordering compliance with the State's subpoena, where the subpoena would require Trieweiler to violate his obligations under RPC 1.6?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Trieweiler represented Rogers for a charge of felony telephone harassment. CP at 1-7. Rogers was accused of calling a woman named Mansebia Pierce and threatening to kill her. CP at 1. On January 13, 2016, the State filed a motion to compel Trieweiler to produce a letter allegedly written by Rogers that the State believed had come into Trieweiler's possession. CP at 8. The State's motion stated that it had

learned that Rogers sent a letter to Pierce's daughter while he was in jail in which he "offered to pay Ms. Pierce money if she would stop pursuing the case." CP at 8. The State's motion further stated that Pierce's daughter sent a copy of the letter to Pierce, and that during Trieweiler's defense interview with Pierce, she "handed the letter to Mr. Trieweiler" and that "Mr. Trieweiler kept the letter when he left." CP at 9.

Trieweiler's version of the facts surrounding the letter are as follows.¹ [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

¹ These facts are protected by the attorney-client privilege and, therefore, the trial court granted Trieweiler's motion to seal the documents containing them (Trieweiler's Motion to Quash Subpoena Duces Tecum and Declaration of David A. Trieweiler in Support of Motion to Quash). CP at 122-34; 142-46. References to the facts contained in those pleadings have therefore been redacted from this brief.

² Because the unredacted filings below were sealed, they are not part of the numbered Clerk's Papers.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

On January 22, 2016, the State moved to have Trieweiler removed as Rogers’s counsel because a potential conflict of interest existed as a result of the State’s demand for the letter. CP at 27-33. While the motion to disqualify was pending, the State obtained a subpoena duces tecum directing Marshall to “[p]rovide the letter written and mailed from the

Pierce³ County Jail by Earl Rogers, Jr., in which he offered to pay money to your mother, Mansebia Pierce, if she would drop the charges against him.” Suppl. Clerk’s Papers⁴, Subpoena Duces Tecum to “Timothia [sic]” Marshall, filed February 17, 2016.

On March 4, Marshall filed a declaration stating that at some point, Rogers mailed her a letter and that she gave the original letter to her mother, Pierce. Suppl. Clerk’s Papers, Marshall Decl., ¶¶ 7-8. That same day, the trial court granted the motion to disqualify Trieweiler and new counsel was appointed for Rogers. CP at 36. The court did not, however, rule on the State’s previously-filed motion to compel production of the letter at that time. *Id.* Rather, that matter lay fallow for the next 6 months.

In June, as the trial date approached, the State moved for a subpoena duces tecum requiring Trieweiler to produce the letter. CP at 39. On June 29, Rogers filed an objection to issuance of the subpoena. CP at 38-46. On June 30, the court granted the State’s motion for a subpoena and the State served a subpoena on Trieweiler that same day. CP at 51-54. The subpoena ordered Trieweiler to produce “all letters,

³ Although the subpoena requests a letter mailed from the Pierce County Jail, this appears to be a typographical error, as it appears that Rogers was confined in the King County Jail during the relevant time period. *See* CP at 28 (State’s motion to disqualify Trieweiler) (stating that Rogers was “booked into the King County Jail”).

⁴ On November 22, 2016, Trieweiler filed a supplemental designation of clerk’s papers containing the subpoena duces tecum issued to Marshall and Marshall’s declaration.

notes, memorandum or writings obtained at 103 S. 339th Circle, Unit B, Federal Way, WA 98003, from or in the presence of Mansebia Pierce, by David Trieweiler and/or his investigator, during the fall or winter of 2015.” CP at 51. Trieweiler served an objection to the subpoena and requested a hearing date for the motion to quash. CP at 55.

Treiweiler also retained counsel. CP at 72-73. On July 20, Trieweiler noted a motion for August 12 seeking the court’s permission to move to quash the subpoena *ex parte*, arguing that facts protected by the attorney-client privilege needed to be disclosed to the court in support of the motion to quash. CP at 74-76, 80, 85, ¶ 3. The court granted the motion. On August 15, Trieweiler moved to quash the State’s subpoena and a motion to file that motion under seal. CP at 122-128; Trieweiler’s Mot. to Quash Subpoena (filed under seal). The court granted Trieweiler’s motion to seal but denied the motion to quash in part, limiting the broad scope of the subpoena’s request as written, but nevertheless ordering that the alleged letter at issue be produced by noon on August 25, 2016. CP at 135-36; CP at 142-146. On August 25, Rogers filed a notice of discretionary review of the order on the motion to quash.

Trieweiler did not produce the letter by August 25. On August 26, the court found Trieweiler in contempt. CP at 147-150. Trieweiler appealed the contempt order (CP at 151), arguing that: (1) the letter was

protected by the attorney-client privilege under *State* 4 Wn. 2d 828, 833, 394 P.2d 681 (1964) *ex rel. Sowers v. Olwell*, 6; (2) he was prohibited from disclosing the letter due to his duty of confidentiality under Rule of Professional Conduct (RPC) 1.6; and (3) the subpoena was improper because it was issued outside the scope of the criminal discovery rules.

On February 20, 2018, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion in which it ruled on both Rogers's and Trieweiler's appeals. *See* Appx. at A-1 through A-9 (*State v. Rogers*, No. 74722-9-I and 75828-4-I (Feb. 20, 2018)). The Court affirmed both the trial court's denial of Rogers's motion to quash the subpoena and the trial court's contempt order against Trieweiler. Rogers moved for reconsideration on March 12, 2018, and Trieweiler joined in the motion. Trieweiler also moved to publish the Court of Appeals' decision. On March 20, the Court of Appeals denied Rogers's motion for reconsideration. Appx. at A-10 through A-11. On April 2, 2018, the Court of Appeals granted Trieweiler's motion to publish. Appx. at A-12 through A-13.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Standard of Review

Under Rule of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 13.4(b), the Supreme Court will accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if, among other things, "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision

of the Supreme Court” or “the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.” RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). Here, the Court of Appeals affirmed the contempt order against Trieweiler based on his failure to produce the letter, holding that the letter was not protected by the attorney-client privilege. Appx. at A-6. The Court also held that even if the letter was privileged, its disclosure was required based on a balancing of the public’s interest in the letter and Roger’s interest in his privilege. *Id.* In so holding, the Court of Appeals departed from the Supreme Court’s decision in *State ex rel. Sowers v. Olwell* (“Olwell”), 64 Wn.2d 828, 833, 394 P.2d 681 (1964), rendering review by the Supreme Court appropriate. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Further, the Court’s ruling on whether the letter was protected by the attorney-client privilege and/or RPC 1.6 and the balancing of interests associated with its determination of whether disclosure was required are all issues of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by the Supreme Court under RPC 13.4(b)(4).

B. Ruling that Letter Is Not Protected by Attorney-Client Privilege Is Inconsistent with *Olwell* and is a Matter of Substantial Public Interest

In Washington, the attorney-client privilege protects not only communications between an attorney and client, but also physical evidence. *Olwell*, 64 Wn. 2d at 833; *see* RCW 5.60.060(2)(a). In *Olwell*,

the Washington Supreme Court reversed a contempt order entered against a criminal defense attorney, David Olwell, for violating a subpoena duces tecum ordering him to produce a knife given to him by his client, Henry Gray. 64 Wn.2d at 836-37. The coroner issued the subpoena because the knife was a possible murder weapon. *Id.* at 830. Olwell obtained the knife after he had a conference with his client while his client was in jail. *Id.* Although it was not clear to the Supreme Court from the record whether Olwell came into possession of the knife through his own investigation or whether he obtained the knife as the result of communications with his client, the court concluded from the record that the knife made its way into Olwell's possession as the result of information received from Gray during their conference. *Id.* at 831.

Based on that assumption, the court held that the knife itself and the circumstances surrounding the attorney's receipt of the knife were privileged. *Id.* at 833. The court explained:

To be protected as a privileged communication, information or objects acquired by an attorney must have been communicated or delivered to him by the client, and not merely obtained by the attorney while acting in that capacity for the client. . . . This means that the securing of the knife in this case must have resulted directly from information given to Mr. Olwell by his client when they conferred to come with the attorney-client privilege.

Id. at 831-32.

Because the court determined that Olwell obtained the knife based on a confidential attorney-client communication, the court held that the subpoena “is defective on its face because it requires the attorney to give testimony concerning information received by him from his client in the course of their conferences.” *Id.* at 832. The court reasoned that the subpoena’s requirement that the attorney present the privileged evidence in open court was “tantamount to requiring the attorney to testify against the client without the latter’s consent.” *Id.* *Olwell* distinguishes evidence obtained as a “direct result” of client confidences and evidence obtained through the attorney’s own investigation. *See id.* at 831-32. Gray was confined in jail when he communicated with Olwell and, therefore, could not have directly provided the knife to him. Rather, although the court concluded from the facts that Olwell could locate the evidence as a “direct result” of information obtained from his client, the evidence itself must have been provided to him by another source.

Here, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

The Court of Appeals in this case nevertheless held that the letter was not privileged under *Olwell* because Trieweiler “did not obtain the letter as a result of direct or confidential communication with Rogers,” basing its ruling in part on its conclusion that Trieweiler “obtained the letter from third parties.” Appx. at A-6. In so holding, the Court of Appeals departs from *Olwell*. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] Further, although the Supreme Court in *Olwell* held that “[i]f the knife were obtained from a third person with whom there was no attorney-client relationship, the communication would not be privileged,” the client in *Olwell* was in jail at the time the privileged conversation regarding the knife took place, meaning that *Olwell* must have obtained the knife from some other source, [REDACTED]

██████████ Accordingly, the Court's ruling that the letter was not privileged because Trieweiler obtained it from a third party, regardless of any additional circumstances, constitutes a conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *Olwell* and renders the Court of Appeals' opinion appropriate for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Court of Appeals' decision also impacts the contours of the attorney-client privilege, which is a matter of substantial public interest. The purpose of the attorney-client privilege is "to encourage free and open attorney-client communication by assuring the client that his communications will be neither directly nor indirectly disclosed to others." *Pappas v. Holloway*, 114 Wn.2d 198, 203, 787 P.2d 30 (1990) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *Heidebrink v. Moriwaki*, 104 Wn.2d 392, 404, 706 P.2d 212 (1985)). The privilege "exists in order to allow the client to communicate freely with an attorney without fear of compulsory discovery." *Dietz v. Doe*, 131 Wn.2d 835, 842, 935 P.2d 611 (1997) (citing *Olwell*, 64 Wn.2d at 832). It is well-recognized that the preservation of the attorney-client privilege is a significant issue of public interest. "The attorney-client privilege 'recognizes that sound legal advice or advocacy serves public ends and that such advice or advocacy depends upon the lawyer being fully informed by the client.'" *Newman v. Highland Sch. Dist. No. 203*, 186 Wn.2d 769, 778, 381 P.3d 1188 (2016)

(quoting *Upjohn Co. v. United States*, 449 U.S. 383, 389, 101 S. Ct. 677, 66 L. Ed. 2d 584 (1981)). Further, the attorney-client privilege “promote[s] broader public interests in the observance of law and administration of justice.” *Upjohn*, 449 U.S. at 389.

Here, the Court of Appeals held that the receipt of evidence from a third party at the client’s direction eliminates any privilege in that evidence, notwithstanding the fact that the attorney in *Olwell* obtained the evidence at issue from his client indirectly, [REDACTED] Appx. at A-6. Whether the attorney-client privilege protects evidence obtained by an attorney at the client’s direction, [REDACTED] [REDACTED] is an important question implicating the privilege. The Court of Appeals’ decision renders the answer to this question unclear in light of the seemingly contradictory result in *Olwell*. Clarification of the contours of the doctrine is therefore an important matter of public interest, particularly where no significant cases addressing this topic have been issued in the more than 50 years since *Olwell*. See RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. Application of Balancing Test is Inconsistent with *Olwell* and Constitutes a Matter of Substantial Public Interest

In determining whether the subpoena was valid, the *Olwell* court engaged in a “balancing process” under which it weighed the attorney-

client privilege against “the public’s interest in the criminal investigation process.” 64 Wn.2d at 832. The court held that although Olwell could not be compelled to testify regarding the knife, he was required to produce it to the prosecution after a reasonable time because the public’s interest in criminal investigation outweighed the client’s privilege. *Id.* at 833-34.

1. Evaluation of Public Interest Is Inconsistent with *Olwell* on the Facts and Is a Matter of Substantial Public Interest

The “public interest” element of the balancing test described in *Olwell* reflects the Rules of Professional Conduct governing the special duties of a prosecutor with respect to issuing subpoenas to a defendant’s attorney or former attorney. *See* RPC 3.8(e). RPC 3.8(e) provides:

The prosecutor in a criminal case shall:

....

e) not subpoena a lawyer in a grand jury or other criminal proceeding to present evidence about a past or present client unless the prosecutor reasonably believes:

(1) the information sought is not protected from disclosure by any applicable privilege;

(2) the evidence sought is essential to the successful completion of an ongoing investigation or prosecution; and

(3) there is no other feasible alternative to obtain the information.

Comment 4 to the rule states that Section (e) is intended to limit the issuance of lawyer subpoenas to those situations in which there is a genuine need to intrude on the attorney-client relationship.

Application of these concepts to the present case produces a different result because unlike the knife in *Olwell*, the public's interest in the letter in this case is minimal. Both Marshall, who allegedly received the letter, and Pierce, who allegedly received a copy of it, can presumably testify to the letter's origin and contents. There is thus a "feasible alternative to obtain the information" contained in the letter.⁵ RPC 3.8(e)(3). By contrast, in *Olwell*, there appear to have been no additional witnesses who could have testified regarding the murder weapon. Additionally, while testing and examination of the knife itself may have been a legitimate State and public interest in *Olwell*, no such interest exists in documentary evidence like the letter in this case. These factual distinctions between the present case and *Olwell* require a different result and render the Court of Appeals' decision in this case in conflict with *Olwell*. See RAP 13.4(b)(1).

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] The Court

⁵ Trieweiler takes no position on any arguments by Rogers that might arise at a subsequent trial as to the admissibility of any testimonial or documentary evidence.

of Appeals nevertheless held: “Any suggestion that the severity of the crime impacts the legitimacy of the State’s interest is not compelling. The State has as legitimate an interest in prosecuting harassment as it does for murder.” Appx. at A-8. But the issue here is not the “legitimacy” of the State/public interest in evidence of the purported crime but, rather, the *strength* of that (admittedly legitimate) interest. The division of crimes into certain classes is a public policy determination based on the severity of those crimes which, in turn, is a direct reflection of the strength of the State/public interest in prosecuting them. In ruling to the contrary, the Court of Appeals’ decision is incorrect and conflicts with basic principles underlying our criminal justice system. As such, the Court of Appeals’ decision constitutes a matter of substantial public interest that the Supreme Court should review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. Harm to Attorney-Client Relationship Is a Matter of Substantial Public Interest

Roger’s interest in maintaining the confidentiality of his communications with his former counsel is significant and well-recognized. *See Dietz*, 131 Wn.2d at 842; *Olwell*, 64 Wn.2d at 832. Requiring Trieweiler to produce a letter he obtained solely as the result of communications with his client during a privileged telephone conference would establish a rule that interferes with a client’s ability to inform his or

her attorney of physical evidence, lest the attorney obtain that evidence and subsequently be disqualified and compelled by the State to violate the privilege, as the State has attempted to do here.

The Court of Appeals nevertheless held that the impact of disclosure of the letter on the attorney-client privilege was “minimal” and that “[n]either Rogers nor Trieweiler establish any meaningful harm to their attorney-client relationship.” Appx. at A-9. But Trieweiler and Rogers’s attorney-client relationship was not only “harmed” by the State’s persistence in attempting to obtain the privileged letter; it was incontrovertibly *destroyed*, as Trieweiler was disqualified as Rogers’s counsel against Rogers’s will. This harm is exactly the type of intrusion that the applicable rules were intended to prevent. As such, the Court’s holding that Trieweiler and Rogers’s attorney-client relationship was not harmed in this case is a significant ruling affecting the public interest that should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Further, in its ruling, the Court of Appeals made a critical determination that the public’s interest in the criminal investigation process (i.e., obtaining evidence of a crime) outweighs the impact of the required disclosure on the attorney-client relationship. This determination implicates a matter of substantial public interest because it signals where courts should land when confronted with balancing public interests in

cases where intruding on the attorney-client privilege will assist the State in recovering evidence of a purported crime. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. Required Disclosure of Letter under RPC 1.6 Is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

RPC 1.6(a)'s purpose is consistent with the attorney-client privilege, as it "contributes to the trust that is the hallmark of the client-lawyer relationship," under which the client is "encouraged to seek legal assistance and to communicate fully and frankly with the lawyer even as to embarrassing or legally damaging subject matter." RPC 1.6, cmt. 2. The rule protects not only information protected by the attorney client privilege, but also "secrets," which "refers to other information gained in the professional relationship that the client has requested be held inviolate or the disclosure of which would be embarrassing or would be likely to be detrimental to the client." *Id.*, cmt. 21.

Even if information is not protected by the attorney-client privilege, "it may be unethical and a violation of RPC 1.6(a) for the attorney to reveal information involving 'secrets.'" *Dietz*, 131 Wn.2d at 842 n.3. When determining whether "secrets" must be divulged, the court "must balance the necessity of the disclosure against the effect such disclosure might have on the attorney-client relationship." *Seventh Elect Church in Israel v. Rogers*, 102 Wn.2d 527, 534-35, 688 P.2d 506 (1984).

As set forth above, the Court of Appeals applied this balancing test and held that the State's interest in obtaining evidence of a purported crime outweighed any interest in preserving attorney-client confidentiality. *See Appx. at A-8 to A-9.* For the same reasons that the balancing test is a matter of substantial public interest in the context of the attorney-client privilege, it is similarly a matter of substantial public interest in the context of an attorney's ability to disclose client "secrets" under RPC 1.6. Accordingly, this matter is appropriate for review by the Supreme Court under RPC 13.4(b)(4).

VI. CONCLUSION

In holding that the letter is not protected by the attorney-client privilege and that the letter must be produced, the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *Olwell*, warranting the Supreme Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Further, the Court's rulings on privilege, production of the letter under the Rules of Professional Conduct, and the balancing of public interests are all issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Accordingly, Trieweiler requests that the Supreme Court grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision in *State v. Rogers*, No. 75722-9-I and 75828-4-I, filed on February 20, 2018.