FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/14/2018 3:01 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 95831-9 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 75828-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

EARL ROGERS,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANN SUMMERS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

A. INTRODUCTION

This case does not meet the criteria for review set forth in RAP 13.4 governing acceptance of review.

B. STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Earl Rogers with one count of felony telephone harassment for threatening to kill the victim, Manesbia Pierce, his girlfriend's mother. CP 1, 5. On November 1, 2015, the victim reported that she received five phone calls from Rogers, in which he yelled at her and threatened to come over and kill her, and "blow" her "brains out." CP 5. She was afraid that Rogers had

- 1 -

obtained a gun and would carry out his threat. CP 5. She was visibly upset when police responded to her home, so much so that they had trouble interviewing her. CP 5. Rogers was arrested and admitted calling the victim, but denied threatening her. CP 5.

Attorney David Trieweiler initially represented Rogers. CP 8, 13, 23. When Trieweiler interviewed the victim at her home in the course of his investigation, the victim showed Trieweiler a letter that Rogers had mailed from jail to the victim's daughter, Timothea Marshall, in which Rogers apologized and offered to pay the victim money in exchange for "dropping" the charge against him. CP 7-8. According to the victim and Marshall, Trieweiler took the only known copy of the letter with him when he left her home. CP 8; RP 5.

The victim subsequently contacted Trieweiler and asked for the letter back. CP 8-9. After the prosecutor learned of the letter's existence, the prosecutor also requested that Trieweiler return the letter to the victim or provide a copy of it to the State. CP 8-9, 14-15, 18, 20. The victim called Trieweiler in the presence of detectives and informed him that she wanted the letter back. CP 15. Trieweiler stated "I can't talk to you about this." CP 15.

- 2 -

The State filed a motion to compel production of the letter. CP 7-21. In response, Trieweiler contended he could not produce evidence he gathered in the course of representing Rogers. CP 23.

The court ordered the State to first serve the victim's daughter, Marshall, with a subpoena duces tecum to produce the letter. CP 34. The State issued the subpoena duces tecum. CP 109-11. Marshall provided a declaration to the court, stating that Rogers had mailed her a letter, and that she gave the letter to her mother. CP 35-36. She stated that she had no copies of the letter. CP 36.

Trieweiler was removed as Rogers' defense counsel after the presiding judge found an irreconcilable conflict of interest between Rogers and Trieweiler, and new counsel was appointed for Rogers. CP 37. The presiding judge subsequently signed a subpoena duces tecum over Trieweiler's objection, ordering him to produce "all letters, notes, memorandum or writings obtained at 103 S. 339th Circle, Unit B, Federal Way, WA 98113, from or in the presence of Manesbia Pierce, by David Trieweiler and/or his investigator, during the fall or winter of 2015." CP 51-53. Trieweiler objected. CP 54.

- 3 -

The criminal motions judge permitted Trieweiler to file under seal a motion and declaration to quash the subpoena. RP 14; CP 99-100. The State, although unable to know the precise contents of the motion to quash, provided briefing to the court arguing that the letter was physical evidence that does not contain attorneyclient communications and is not protected by attorney-client privilege. CP 112-15, 131-36.

The court denied the motion to quash in part, requiring Trieweiler to turn over "any letter(s) (or copy of letter(s)) written by Mr. Rogers to Ms. Timothea Marshall provided to Mr. Trieweiler or his investigator by Manesbia Pierce or in her presence at 103 S. 339th Circle, Unit B, Federal Way, WA 98113 in the fall of 2015." CP 99-100. However, the court granted the motion to quash in part by striking broader language in the subpoena requiring production of "all letters, notes, memorandum or writings obtained. . . from or in the presence of Manesbia Pierce" out of concern that the broader language, as phrased, could require production of privileged documents. CP 99-100.

The court found Trieweiler in contempt of court for failing to comply with the court's order to produce the letter on August 25, 2016. CP 107. The court imposed a sanction of \$100 per day after

- 4 -

48 hours, but stayed the sanction pending appeal. CP 107.

Rogers and Trieweiler both sought discretionary review, which was granted.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in an unpublished decision dated February 20, 2018. The Court of Appeals ordered that on remand Trieweiler must provide the letter within 30 days of issuance of the mandate.

D. <u>THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR</u> <u>REVIEW</u>

THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT THE SUBPOENA DUCES TECUM DOES NOT REQUIRE DISCLOSURE OF PRIVILEGED INFORMATION; THERE IS NO CONFLICT WITH <u>SOWERS v. OLWELL</u>.

Trieweiler argues that the letter that Rogers mailed to

Pierce's daughter from jail is privileged because it constitutes a "secret" that Trieweiler is prohibited from disclosing under RPC 1.6. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's determination that the letter is not a privileged communication, as it was directed to a third party. Because it is not privileged, Trieweiler can be compelled to disclose it in order to comply with a lawful subpoena. The Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with any decision of this Court or other decisions of the Court of Appeals, presents no constitutional issue, and does not involve an issue of substantial public importance. Review should be denied.

The attorney-client privilege is codified in RCW 5.60.060(2)(a), which states, "An attorney or counselor shall not, without the consent of his or her client, be examined as to any communication *made by the client to him or her*, or his or her advice given thereon in the course of professional employment." (Emphasis added). Here, the letter itself is obviously not an attorney-client communication. It was written by Rogers to Marshall and provided by Marshall to Pierce. The letter is not a communication made by Rogers to his attorney in confidence.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Trieweiler's attempt to rely on <u>State ex rel. Sowers v. Olwell</u>, 64 Wn.2d 828, 831, 394 P.2d 681 (1964). In <u>Sowers</u> this Court held that "to be protected as a privileged communication, information or objects acquired by an attorney must have been communicated or delivered to him by the client, and not merely obtained by the attorney while acting in that capacity for the client." <u>Id.</u> at 831. Thus, <u>Sowers</u> is of no avail to Rogers or Trieweiler. In this case, the trial court properly concluded that the letter is not privileged because it was written by Rogers and sent to the victim's daughter, and was obtained from the victim. It

- 6 -

was, in the words of <u>Sowers</u>, "merely obtained by the attorney while acting in that capacity for the client." <u>Id.</u> at 831. As a result, the letter is not protected by attorney-client privilege. <u>Id.</u> at 831-32.

The subpoena in this case does not compel Trieweiler to disclose any communications from Rogers regarding the letter. The letter itself, which is clearly not an attorney-client communication, does not become protected by the attorney-client privilege simply because Trieweiler and Rogers may have discussed it during the course of Trieweiler's representation of Rogers, or because Trieweiler learned of the letter's existence from Rogers before interviewing the victim.

Beyond the claim of attorney-client privilege, Trieweiler also argues that the letter is still a "secret" if not privileged, and thus Trieweiler cannot disclose it pursuant to RPC 1.6. However, because the letter is not privileged, disclosure is authorized under RPC 1.6 in order to comply with the lawful subpoena.

While the statutory attorney-client privilege protects only attorney-client communications, RPC 1.6 imposes a duty on attorneys to not reveal "information relating to the representation of a client" unless certain exceptions apply. RPC 1.6(a). "Information relating to the representation of a client" includes both

- 7 -

"confidences" and "secrets." Comment 21 to RPC 1.6. "Confidences" refers to information that will convey the substance of confidential communications and is coextensive with the statutory attorney-client privilege, while "secrets" "refers to other information gained in the professional relationship that the client has requested be held inviolate or the disclosure of which would be embarrassing or would be likely to be detrimental to the client." <u>Seventh Elect Church in Israel v. Rogers</u>, 102 Wn.2d 527, 533-34, 688 P.2d 506 (1984); Comment 21 to RPC 1.6. Thus, something may be a secret but not a confidence. One example of information that is a "secret" but not a "confidence" is information about the source of client funds used to pay an attorney's fees. <u>Seventh</u> Elect Church, 102 Wn.2d at 534.

The subpoena does not require Trieweiler to testify about or otherwise disclose how he learned of or obtained the letter. Thus, the subpoena does not require Trieweiler to disclose any confidences.

RPC 1.6 specifically permits attorneys to disclose client secrets in order "to comply with a court order." RPC 1.6(b)(6). Thus, RPC 1.6 allows disclosure of a "secret" that is not privileged when disclosure is ordered by a court. <u>Seventh Elect Church</u>, 102

- 8 -

Wn.2d at 511. In this case, because a lawful subpoena exists which orders Trieweiler to turn over the letter, and because the letter itself is not privileged and cannot contain privileged information as argued above, disclosure is authorized and not prohibited by RPC 1.6.

"In ordering disclosure of 'secrets', the trial court must balance the necessity of the disclosure against the effect such disclosure might have on the attorney-client relationship." <u>Seventh</u> <u>Elect Church</u>, 102 Wn.2d at 534-35. In this case, that balancing weighs heavily in favor of disclosure, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in so concluding. The letter is believed to not only contain an admission to the crime of felony harassment, but is itself evidence of two additional crimes, tampering with a witness pursuant and violation of a no-contact order. <u>See</u> RCW 9A.72.120 and 26.50.110. The public interest in disclosure of a letter that contains an admission to a felony, and also constitutes a new felony, is great. Because Trieweiler and Rogers no longer have an attorney-client relationship, the public interest in disclosure cannot be outweighed by protecting that relationship.

- 9 -

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.

DATED this <u>14th</u> day of May, 2018.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

ANN SUMMERS, WSBA #21509 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002

KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

May 14, 2018 - 3:01 PM

Filing Petition for Review

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court:	Supreme Court
Appellate Court Case Number:	Case Initiation
Appellate Court Case Title:	State of Washington, Respondent v. Earl R. Rogers, Appellant (758284)

The following documents have been uploaded:

PRV_Motion_20180514145452SC253352_9656.pdf
 This File Contains:
 Motion 1 - Accelerate Review
 The Original File Name was 75828-4 STATES MOTION TO ACCELERATED DEFENDANTS PETITION FOR REVIEW.pdf
 PRV_Other_20180514145452SC253352_2689.pdf
 This File Contains:

Other - STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW The Original File Name was 75828-4 STATES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- kpritchard@bpmlaw.com
- lhurl@bpmlaw.com

Comments:

Sender Name: Bora Ly - Email: bora.ly@kingcounty.gov Filing on Behalf of: Ann Marie Summers - Email: ann.summers@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email:)

Address: King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue Seattle, WA, 98104 Phone: (206) 477-9499

Note: The Filing Id is 20180514145452SC253352